FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 4/23/2020 3:32 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/27/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Court of Appeals Case No. 36316-3-III

98466-2

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

EAKIN ENTERPRISES, INC., a Washington corporation; and JOHN W. EAKIN, a single person,

Plaintiffs,

VS.

1. Nature of the Claims		
2. Bullet Point Timeline of Relevant Events		
3. <u>The At-Issue Allegations of Legal Malpractice</u>		
4. <u>Nature of the Invention and Timeline of its Development</u> 7		
5. Communications between Plaintiffs and Defendants		
6. Mr. Eakin Again Lies About "Prior Art" Occurrences11		
7. <u>The Provisional Patent Application is Filed but</u> <u>Untimely Fails as Untimely</u>		
8. Evidence of the Parties' Respective Beliefs as to When the Attorney-Client Relationship was Formed		

D. <u>ARGUMENT</u> 13
 By Allowing the Plaintiffs a Second Opportunity to <u>Present Evidence, the Court of Appeals' Majority</u> <u>Violated Numerous Precedents</u>
 By Concluding that an Attorney-Client Relationship May Have Been Formed as of August 2006, the Court of Appeals' Majority Violated Precedent (and also Issued a Self-Contradicting Decision that is Inconsistent with the Washington Practice Series Treatise)
3. <u>By Allowing the Plaintiffs to Present a New Argument</u> on Appeal the Court of Appeals' Majority Violated Precedent18
4. <u>By Basing its Decision on Misstatements of the Record,</u> the Court of Appeals' Majority Violated Precedent
E. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

APPENDIX

(Complete copy of the to-be-reviewed Court of Appeals' decision)

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page

Cases
Bohn v. Cody, 119 Wn.2d 357, 832 P.2d 71 (1992)17-18
Boyer v. Morimoto, 10 Wn. App.2d 506, 449 P.3d 285 (2019)14
<i>Francis v. Washington State Department of Corrections</i> , 178 Wn. App. 42, 313 P.3d 457 (2013)19
<i>Green v. Normandy Park</i> , 139 Wn. App. 665, 151 P.3d 1038 (2007)14, 20
<i>In re Matter of Reugh</i> , 10 Wn. App.2d 20, 447 P.3d 554 (2019)19
Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Corp., 475 U.S. 574, 106 S. Ct. 1348 (1986)13
<i>McGough v. City of Edmonds</i> , 1 Wn. App. 164, 460 P.2d 302 (1969)13
Preston v. Duncan, 55 Wn.2d 678, 349 P.2d 605 (1960)14
Smith v. Reich, 191 Wn. App. 1038, 2015 WL 8194838 (2015)15
<i>Smith v. Shannon</i> , 100 Wn.2d 26, 666 P.2d 351 (1983)19
Smith v. Stockdale, 166 Wn. App. 557, 271 P.3d 917 (2012)14
State v. Grier, 171 Wn.2d 17, 246 P.3d 1260 (2011)11

Strauss v. Premera Blue Cross, 194 Wn.2d 296, 449 P.3d 640 (2019)13
<i>Strickland v. Washington</i> , 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984)11
Wuthrich v. King County, 185 Wn.2d 19, 366 P.3d 926 (2016)15

<u>Rules</u>

GR 14.1(a)15	
RAP Title 131	

<u>Other</u>

2 Wash. Prac., Rules Practice RPC 1.18 (8 th ed.)17
19 Wash. Prac., Fam And Community Prop. L. §1:117

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

This "Petition for Discretionary Review by Supreme Court" is advanced via RAP Title 13. The Petitioners are those named-defendants who are collectively referred to as the "Svendsen Defendants", specifically Svendsen Legal, LLC, and Chris E. Svendsen and "Jane Doe" Svendsen.

B. DECISION TO BE REVIEWED

The Petitioners ask the Supreme Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' decision issued by Division Three in case number 36316-3-III on March 24, 2020. Such decision is unpublished and no motions for reconsideration were advanced. It is a 2-1 split decision, consisting of a 55-page majority decision and a 4-page dissent. A complete copy of the decision is set forth in the Appendix hereto.

The majority decision, as written, confirms that review is necessary because aspects of the law need to be clarified. For instance, the decision says "Washington law maintains an ambiguity as to whether the attorney must actually provide some advice before the attorney-client relationship begins" such that the attorney can be sued for malpractice. *See* Court of Appeals' decision, p.54 (final ¶). Continuing further, the majority decision poses – but does not answer – several legal questions as to when and why an attorney could be sued for malpractice. *See id.*, p.42 (final ¶, repeatedly saying "One may wonder if"), p.43 (1st full ¶, saying

"We question the wisdom of a rule") & p.47 (1st full ¶, stating several legal questions).

The majority concedes that its decision is "unusual". See Court of Appeals' decision, p.2 (1st ¶) ("We take the unusual step of reversing based on factual uncertainty."). After saying "We could affirm the grant of summary judgment" because the plaintiffs failed to present conceivably-sufficient evidence, the majority inexplicably issues a reversal. See *id.*, pp.52-53 & 55. As the dissent says, "the majority errs by allowing Eakin a second opportunity to present evidence." See *id.*, dissent, p.4. The majority based its reversal on misstatements of the record, hypothecated non-existent facts, and a supposed "factual uncertainty" that would only pertain to non-material facts.

Accepting review will enable this court to clarify the law vis-à-vis formation of an attorney-client relationship, to reaffirm long-standing precedents vis-à-vis summary judgment, and to replace the majority's "unusual" and clearly wrong decision.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Issue 1. Did the Court of Appeals' majority commit error by reversing a summary judgment dismissal so as to allow the plaintiffs a second chance to submit additional hypothetical evidence when the plaintiffs bore the burden of proof on the subject, they made no attempt to

submit such evidence, they did not seek a CR 56(f) continuance, and they never argued that such evidence was materially important?

Issue 2. Relatedly, would the hypothetical additional evidence conceivably have critical importance to the determination of when the parties formed an attorney-client relationship, or, by contrast, would the existing evidence still be dispositive to such question?

Issue 3. Is an attorney-client relationship formed, such that the attorney may be sued for malpractice, when a short conflicts-check screening interview occurs during which no confidential information is exchanged, no legal advice is sought, no legal services are sought, the attorney makes no promises, and the prospective client tells the attorney to "wait to hear back" and "not to perform any legal services"?

Issue 4. Did the Court of Appeals' majority commit error by allowing the plaintiffs to advance a new argument on appeal (and then issuing a merits-based ruling on such new argument)?

Issue 5. Did the Court of Appeals' majority commit error by basing its decision on misstatements of the factual record?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. <u>Nature of Claims</u>. This case concerns the timing of legal advice relative to submission of patent applications for the plaintiffs' invention. The plaintiffs' primary claim is for legal malpractice based on *Petition for Discretionary Review by Supreme Court - 3*

a failure-to-advise theory, which contends the defendant-attorneys failed to give timely legal advice to the plaintiffs. *See* Court of Appeals' decision, pp.2 & 17; CP 56-57; *Brief of Svendsen Respondents*, p.1 (2nd ¶). The plaintiffs also advance related claims for breach of contract, lack of informed consent, and breach of fiduciary duty. *See* Court of Appeals' decision, pp.17-19; CP 57-61; *Brief of Svendsen Respondents*, p.1 (2nd ¶).¹

2. Bullet Point Timeline of Relevant Events. Presented in bullet

point format, the timeline of relevant events is as follows:

•	2004:	Plaintiffs begin work on the invention.
•	November 2005:	Plaintiffs publicly display the invention.

Under patent law, any public display and/or use of an invention triggers a one-year deadline for patentability.

- Summer 2006: A third-party begins commercial use of the invention.
- August 2, 2006: The screening interview occurs via telephone, and it ends with plaintiffs telling defendants to "wait to hear back".

This is the date – August 2, 2006 – that the plaintiffs contend the defendants should have commenced giving legal advice to the plaintiffs.

¹ Claims for violation of the Consumer Protection Act were voluntarily dismissed. *See* Court of Appeals' decision, p.27 (initial ¶); CP 607 (Order on Cross-Motions for Summary Judgment and Motions to Strike, p.4, ¶4 thereof); *Brief of Svendsen Respondents*, p.1 (2nd ¶).

- August 10, 2006 : The defendants confirm they are not disqualified from potentially representing the plaintiffs on account of any preexisting conflict of interest.
 - November 2006: Plaintiffs again publicly display the invention.

still had not been put into use.

- The 14 months between August 2006
 & October 2007:
 The only contact between the parties is a few happenstance encounters at social events. In small talk, plaintiffs falsely tell defendants the invention
 - October 2007: Plaintiffs formally engage and retain defendants and the first substantive meeting occurs.
- November 21, 2007: A provisional patent application is filed.
 - 2012: During deposition in a patent infringement lawsuit, plaintiffs disclose for the first time that the invention had been publicly displayed and also put into commercial use back in 2006.

Some of the plaintiffs' claims are based on post-2008 occurrences, including the filing of non-provisional "utility" patent applications and also work on a patent infringement lawsuit. *See* CP 51-53 (Second Amended Complaint). However, this Petition focuses on claims that stem from events in 2007 and earlier, because those are the claims the trial court dismissed via summary judgment and which the Court of Appeals' majority restored via its reversal. *See and Compare*, CP 607-608 (trial *Petition for Discretionary Review by Supreme Court - 5* court's order) & Court of Appeals' decision, pp. 26 & 55. The only post-2008 event of relevance to this Petition is the plaintiffs' deposition testimony in 2012, because it was during that testimony that the plaintiffs first admitted that the invention had been publicly displayed and also put into commercial use back in 2006.²

3. The At-Issue Allegations of Legal Malpractice. Relevant to

the scope of this Petition, the plaintiffs allege an attorney-client relationship was formed between the parties in 2006:

In or about 2006, plaintiff John Eakin retained defendant attorney Chris Svendsen and the law firm of Stratton Ballew, PLLC, to handle all matters associated with applying for and obtaining a United States Patent for a cattle footbath delivery system.

See CP 50 (Second Amended Complaint, p.5, ¶XV thereof); Court of Appeals' decision, pp.23-24. Building on this allegation, the plaintiffs argue that the defendants should have begun providing legal advice to plaintiffs also during 2006. See CP 191-194; Court of Appeals' decision, pp.23-24; Brief of Appellants, pp.23-24 & 26-28.

² Similarly, certain aspects of the to-be-reviewed majority decision are not germane to the scope of this Petition. For instance, the majority decision affirms the trial court's certification of a piecemeal appeal. *See* Court of Appeals' decision, pp.29-34. The majority decision also affirms the trial court's striking of untimely materials – including a Declaration by plaintiff John Eakin – that the plaintiffs offered after the summary judgment hearing had concluded and the trial court had orally announced its ruling. *See* Court of Appeals' decision, pp.26-27 & 38-41. This Petition does not challenge these rulings. The certification issue is now moot, and the untimely materials were properly struck.

4. <u>Nature of Invention and Timeline of its Development</u>. The subject invention is a cattle footbath system that uses formaldehyde to clean and sterilize the hooves of dairy cows. *See* Court of Appeals' decision, p.3 (initial ¶); *Brief of Svendsen Respondents*, pp.5-7.

In 2004, the plaintiffs started working on the invention. See Court of Appeals' decision, p.3 (1st ¶); Brief of Svendsen Respondents, p.5 (final ¶); Brief of Appellants, p.3; CP 139.

In November 2005, the plaintiffs publicly displayed the invention at the annual Dairymen's Show in Boise, Idaho. *See* Court of Appeals' decision, p.3 (2nd ¶); CP 140, 187 & 440; *Brief of Svendsen Respondents*, p.6 (1st ¶); *Brief of Appellants*, p.3. As will be explained later, public display and/or public usage of a prototype (a "prior art" event) triggers a one-year deadline for patenting an invention. *See infra*, p.11.

During summer 2006, the plaintiffs allowed a commercial dairy to begin using the invention. See CP 141 & 440; Court of Appeals' decision, p.3 (3rd ¶); Brief of Svendsen Respondents, p.6 (final ¶); Brief of Appellants, pp.5-6. Then, in November 2006, the plaintiffs again publicly displayed the invention at the annual Dairymen's Show. See CP 141, 424 & 440; Court of Appeals' decision, p.8 (3rd ¶); Brief of Appellants, pp.5-6.

5. <u>Communications between Plaintiffs and Defendants</u>. The initial communication between the plaintiffs and the defendants was a *Petition for Discretionary Review by Supreme Court - 7*

brief telephone call that occurred on August 2, 2006. *See* CP 432 & 488; Court of Appeals' decision, p.4 (1st full ¶); *Brief of Svendsen Respondents*, p.7 (2nd & 3rd ¶¶); *Brief of Appellants*, p.4. Notably, this was already ten months after the invention had been publicly displayed.

Mr. Eakin did not provide any details about his invention and he did not seek any immediate legal advice. *See* CP 432, 488 & 560; Court of Appeals' decision, p.4; *Brief of Svendsen Respondents*, p.8 (initial ¶). Instead, the initial phone conversation was intentionally "very limited". CP 488 (lns.17-21 thereof). Mr. Svendsen entered basic information on a form so that he law firm could later complete a conflicts of interest check. CP 560 (the completed Screening Interview form); Court of Appeals' decision, p.5 (final ¶); Court of Appeals' decision, p.5 (2nd ¶); *Brief of Svendsen Respondents*, p.8 (final ¶).³

Mr. Eakin ended the August 2, 2006 telephone call by telling Mr. Svendsen to wait to hear back from him. See CP 432 & 488; Court of Appeals' decision, p.4 (1st full ¶) and p.51 (final ¶); Brief of Svendsen Respondents, p.8 (final ¶). The plaintiffs were merely prospective clients at this point.⁴

³ Patent law requires a two-part conflicts check. Both the prospective clients and the general nature of the invention must be screened for potential conflicts. See CP 488 & 553-554; see also Court of Appeals' decision, p.7 (final ¶).

⁴ In its decision, the majority says "[w]e do not know if John Eakin and Chris Svendsen informed the court as to the full extent of the conversation on August 2." See

By August 10, 2006, Mr. Svendsen's law firm had completed the conflicts check and determined that no disqualifying conflicts existed. CP 561; Court of Appeals' decision, p.7 (final ¶); *Brief of Svendsen Respondents*, p.9 (1st full ¶); *Brief of Appellants*, pp.4-5. In its decision, the majority says "[t]he parties provided no information as to whether Chris Svendsen called John Eakin after the conflicts check [was completed], and, if so, the nature of the remarks made between the two during any such conversation." *See* Court of Appeals' decision, p.8 (2nd) (bracketed material added); *see also id.*, pp.50-51. To the contrary, defendant Chris Svendsen confirmed – via a sworn Declaration – that there were no telephone discussions (nor any substantive in-person meetings) over the ensuing <u>fourteen months</u>. *See* CP 488-489 (Declaration of Chris E. Svendsen, pp.4-5, ¶9 thereof); *see also Brief of Svendsen Respondents*, p.9 (final ¶).

The only interactions between the parties during the ensuring fourteen months (*i.e.*, between August 2006 and October 2007) were happenstance encounters at social events. *See* CP 433 & 488-489; *Brief of Svendsen Respondents*, p.10 (final ¶). In casual small talk, Mr. Eakin said

Court of Appeals' decision, p.4 (final ¶); see also id., p.50 (final ¶). To the contrary, the parties submitted "lengthy" materials vis-à-vis cross-motions for summary judgment (see Court of Appeals' decision, p.50, final ¶), and there was no suggestion by any party that anything further transpired during the August 2, 2006 phone call.

he was still "tinkering" with the invention. CP 433 & 488-489; *Brief of Svendsen Respondents*, p.10 (final ¶); Court of Appeals' decision, p.8 (final ¶) – p.9 (initial ¶). By contrast, he never said the invention was ready for patenting and he did not ask for any legal advice. CP 433 & 488-489; *Brief of Svendsen Respondents*, p.10 (final ¶). <u>Of critical</u> <u>significance, Mr. Eakin also said the invention "had not yet been put into</u> use." *See* CP 489 (underscore emphasis added).⁵

In late October 2007, Mr. Eakin reinitiated contact with Mr. Svendsen. See CP 83 & 433; Brief of Svendsen Respondents, p.11; Court of Appeals' decision, p.10 (1st ¶). This was more than one year after the screening telephone call of August 2, 2006. CP 433; Brief of Svendsen Respondents, p.11. It was at this point that Mr. Eakin formally engaged and retained the defendants as the plaintiffs' lawyers, and that Mr. Eakin first disclosed details about the invention. CP 433; Brief of Svendsen Respondents, p.11; Court of Appeals' decision, p.42 (1st full ¶).⁶

⁵ In its decision, the majority says that during these happenstance encounters "Svendsen did not ask Eakin if he publicly displayed or allowed the use of the invention." *See* Court of Appeals' decision, p.9 (initial ¶). To the contrary, Mr. Svendsen confirms – via a sworn Declaration – that he inquired about how work on the invention was progressing and that Mr. Eakin in response said the invention "had not yet been put into use." *See* CP 488-489 (Declaration of Chris E. Svendsen, pp.4-5, ¶9 thereof).

⁶ In its decision, the majority says "neither party submitted any formal representation agreement or letter as part of the summary judgment motion pleadings." *See* Court of Appeals' decision, p.7. There is no basis to believe such thing actually exist.

6. Mr. Eakin Again Lies About "Prior Art" Occurrences.

Upon being formally engaged and retained in October 2007, Mr. Svendsen posed specific questions to Mr. Eakin about whether the invention had ever been publicly displayed and/or publicly used. *See* CP 425, 533 & 489; *Brief of Svendsen Respondents*, p.12 (1st ¶); Court of Appeals' decision, p.10 (1st ¶). He forewarned Mr. Eakin that if display or usage had occurred more than one year earlier, then the deadline for patentability would have already expired. *See* CP 489; *see also* 35 U.S.C. §102 (imposing the one-year patentability deadline). In patent law, display or usage of an invention is termed "prior art". *See* CP 183.

Mr. Eakin told Mr. Svendsen that no public displays or usage had occurred. *See* CP 84, 433 & 488-489; *Brief of Svendsen Respondents*, p.12 (1st ¶); Court of Appeals' decision, p.10 (1st ¶). This echoed what he had previously told Mr. Svendsen during the parties' happenstance social encounters. *See supra*, pp.9-10. Mr. Svendsen had no way of knowing that Mr. Eakin had lied and that public display had occurred back in 2005.⁷

⁷ Factually and legally, a lawyer's actions must be evaluated based on the information he had at the time and not on 20-20 hindsight. *See e.g., State v. Grier*, 171 Wn.2d 17, 34, 246 P.3d 1260 (2011) (quoting *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 689, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984), relative to effective assistance of counsel, "[a] fair assessment of attorney performance requires that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time.")

7. The Provisional Patent Application is Filed but Untimely

Fails as Untimely. On November 21, 2007, Mr. Svendsen filed a

provisional patent application on the plaintiff's behalf. CP 84 & 425;

Brief of Svendsen Respondents, p.16 (1st full ¶); Court of Appeals'

decision, p.13 (1^{st} ¶). Ultimately, the patent application failed because the one-year patentability deadline had already expired.

8. Evidence of the Parties' Respective Beliefs as to When the

Attorney-Client Relationship was Formed. Via deposition testimony in

2012 during a patent infringement lawsuit, Mr. Eakin admitted that the

plaintiffs did not retain and engage the defendants until October 2007:

- Q. So I'm putting the time frame together here. You've got those systems installed at some dairies in the spring of 2007. And it's all the way till [*sic*] <u>October [of 2007]</u> before you communicated with the attorney about patent protection. So what as the reason for that delay?
- A. Perfection of the system.

CP 269 (deposition of Eakin, p.119, lns.12-17, underscore emphasis and

bracketed material added). More fully, Mr. Eakin also admitted that as of

February 2007 the plaintiffs had not selected any attorney(s):

- Q. Okay. As of February 14, 2007, had a patent been applied for [as asserted in one of Mr. Eakin's emails to a third party; a retired OSHA inspector named Ralph Yobp]?
- A. Oh, no. Actually, we didn't apply for the patent until later. We -- that was certainly on the books and in the works at that point. That's what we discussed to do. <u>I just didn't know who</u> to get to, to do it.

CP 258 (deposition of Eakin, p.103, lns.8-13, bracketed material and underscore emphasis added).⁸

Consistently, Mr. Svendsen's own deposition testimony confirms that the parties' attorney-client relationship was not formed until "<u>the fall</u> <u>of 2007</u>." *See* CP 273-274 (deposition of Svendsen, p.45, $\ln 1 - p.46$, $\ln .11$) (underscore emphases added). His testimony is undisputed.

E. ARGUMENT

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