FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/21/2020 2:42 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 98466-2

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

EAKIN ENTERPRISES, Inc., a Washington Corporation; JOHN W. EAKIN, a single person,

Appellants/Respondents

vs.

STRATTON BALLEW, PLLC, a Washington Professional Limited
Liability Company; SVENDSEN LEGAL, LLC, a Washington Limited
Liability Company; CHRIS E. SVENDSEN and "JANE DOE"
SVENDSEN, husband and wife, and the marital community composed
thereof; STRATTON LAW & MEDIATION, P.S., a Washington
Professional Services Corporation; REX B. STRATTON and "JANE
DOE" STRATTON, husband and wife and the marital community

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

III. ARGUMENT

1. NONE OF THE PURPORTED "ISSUES" IN THE PETITION MEET THE CRITERIA IN RAP 13.4.

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court

(1)If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b).

The thrust of the Petition for Review is the Svendsen Defendants'

claim that the Court of Appeals erred in reversing a summary judgment of

dismissal. The Washington Supreme Court is not a court of error.

Discretionary review is appropriate only if one or more of the criteria in

RAP 13.4 have been met. The Petition for Review filed by the Svendsen

Defendants does not specifically address any of the RAP 13.4 criteria that

govern review by this court and they present no substantive argument as to

how or why the RAP 13.4 criteria are met in this case.

The unpublished decision of the Court of Appeals does not warrant review under RAP 13.4. Accordingly, the Court should decline to exercise discretionary review.

2. IN REVERSING THE SUMMARY JUDGMENT ORDER ISSUED BY THE TRIAL COURT THE COURT OF APPEALS PROPERLY APPLIED THE RULES GOVERNING SUMMARY JUDGMENT WHICH REQUIRE AN ABSENCE OF MATERIAL FACTS IN DISPUTE.

The timing of the formation of the attorney-client relationship between Eakin and Svendsen is the critical central inquiry in this case. If the attorney-client relationship began in August of 2006, then the **second** prototype of the cattle footbath was patentable at that point. If the

attorney-client relationship did not begin until October of 2007, then the

second prototype of the cattle footbath was not patentable at that time.

In the trial court the Svendsen Defendants filed a motion seeking

summary judgment of dismissal on the following three grounds:

- 1. Exclusive jurisdiction for legal malpractice claims involving a patent is in federal court;
- 2. Plaintiffs publicly displayed the second prototype footbath in the summer of 2006 which rendered the second prototype unpatentable in October of 2007;
- 3. The Cause of Action for violation of the Consumer Protection Act does not apply to claims of legal malpractice.

Significantly, these were the only three grounds asserted by the Svendsen Defendants in their motion for summary judgment of dismissal. Eakin voluntarily agreed to withdraw the cause of action for violation of the Consumer Protection Act and the Svendsen Defendants withdrew their claim that of exclusive federal jurisdiction at the hearing on summary judgment.

Therefore, at the time of the hearing, the only remaining basis for summary judgment asserted by the Svendsen Defendants was the claim that the second prototype was unpatentable because it was displayed in the summer of 2006.

In their summary judgment motion, the Svendsen Defendants did not raise any issues regarding the existence of an attorney-client relationship and specifically defendants failed to make any argument that no attorney-client relationship existed until 2007. Frankly, the issue of the attorney-client relationship was completely absent from the Svendsen Defendants' motion for summary judgment.

In response to the Svendsen Defendants' motion for summary judgment Eakin submitted competent evidence, including a Declaration from their patent expert Mark Lorbiecki giving his opinion, on a more probable than not basis, that an attorney-client relationship was formed in 2006. At that point the burden was on the defense, as the moving party, to identify those portions of the record, together with the affidavits, if any, which they believe **demonstrate the absence of a genuine issue of material fact**. *White v. Kent Medical Center, Inc.*, 61 Wn. App. 163, 170, 810 P.2d 4, 9 (1991) (emphasis added); *Baldwin v. Sisters of Providence in Washington, Inc.*, 112 Wash.2d 127, 132, 769 P.2d 298 (1989).

It was not until they filed their Reply materials that the Svendsen Defendants for the first time addressed the issue of the timing of the attorney-client relationship with Eakin. In their Reply brief the Svendsen Defendants argued that Eakin was a prospective client in 2006 and did not become an actual client until October of 2007. Significantly defendant Svendsen, who has been held out as both the defendant and an expert witness in patent law, failed in his Reply Declaration to give an opinion,

on a more probable than not basis, that no attorney-client relationship was formed in 2006.

In essence, the Reply materials filed by the Svendsen Defendants did nothing more than identify and confirm that there were genuine issues of material fact in dispute, i.e., when the attorney-client relationship was formed between Eakin and defendant Svendsen, thereby making summary judgment inappropriate. As the Court in *White, supra*, noted:

Defendants only marginally complied with this requirement. Their claim that White had no competent expert testimony regarding the applicable standard of care was not substantiated by reference to any pleadings, documents, or deposition testimony. **Not until they submitted their "rebuttal documents**" did Defendants point out those parts of the depositions upon which they relied to support their lack of evidence claim We emphasize, however, that only rarely will a moving party comply with the strict requirements of *Celotex*, *Young*, and *Baldwin* without having made specific citations to the record in its opening materials.

White, 61 Wn. App. at 170 (Emphasis added); citing Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 325, 91 L. Ed. 2d 265, 106 S. Ct. 2548 (1986); Young v. Key Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 112 Wn.2d 216, 225-26, 770 P.2d 182 (1989); Baldwin, supra.

A review of the pleadings before the trial court shows that there was simply no effort on the part of the Svendsen Defendants to meet their burden under *Young* and *White* as it relates to the issue of when the attorney-client relationship between Eakin and the Svendsen Defendants was formed. In their summary judgment motion the Svendsen Defendants <u>made no argument</u>, offered <u>no evidence</u> and made no <u>evidentiary</u> <u>citation</u> to support the notion that there was an absence of any genuine issue of material fact about when the attorney-client relationship was formed.

At the summary judgment hearing both the Svendsen Defendants and the Court took issue with the fact that Eakin had not filed a Declaration of John Eakin regarding the formation of the attorney-client relationship, in opposition to summary judgment. First, there was no reason to file such a declaration from Mr. Eakin because the Svendsen Defendants did not seek summary judgment on the issue of when the attorney-client relationship was formed in their initial summary judgment pleadings.

Second, unless and until the Svendsen Defendants, as the moving party on summary judgment, meet their burden to **demonstrate the absence of a genuine issue of material fact** on the issue of when the attorney-client relationship was formed, summary judgment may not be granted, regardless of whether Eakin submitted a Declaration of John Eakin. "If the moving party does not meet their initial burden, summary judgment may not be entered, **regardless of whether the opposing party submitted responding materials**." *White, supra* (emphasis added);

Jacobsen v. State, 89 Wash.2d 104, 108, 569 P.2d 1152 (1977); see also, Baldwin, 112 Wn.2d at 132.

In granting the Svendsen Defendants' motion for summary judgment, the trial court concluded that an attorney-client relationship did not begin between Eakin and Svendsen prior to October of 2007. In order to reach this decision, the trial court improperly weighed evidence, resolved factual disputes and excluded evidence in order to find there were no genuine issues of material fact in dispute.

In its decision reversing the summary judgment, the Court of Appeals agreed that there were clearly genuine issues of material fact in dispute regarding the timing of the formation of an attorney-client relationship which should have precluded summary judgment being granted for any party.

3. IN REVERSING THE SUMMARY JUDGMENT ORDER ISSUED BY THE TRIAL COURT THE COURT OF APPEALS PROPERLY APPLIED THE RULES GOVERNING SUMMARY JUDGMENT WHICH REQUIRE THAT ALL FACTS AND ALL REASONABLE INFERENCES FROM THE FACTS BE CONSTRUED IN FAVOR OF THE NON-MOVING PARTY.

Significantly, it is critical that this Court keep in mind that the issue being decided by the Court of Appeals was not when the attorneyclient relationship was formed, but whether or not there are genuine issues of fact on this issue that were in dispute and needed to be decided by the jury, which would preclude summary judgment. In making that determination, all facts and reasonable inferences therefrom must be construed in favor of Eakin, as the non-moving party on summary judgment. When the excerpts of Svendsen's deposition testimony quoted below are construed in favor of the Plaintiffs, there are clearly genuine issues of material fact which should have precluded summary judgment.

The Svendsen Defendants went to great lengths to argue that the initial meeting between Eakin and Svendsen was nothing more than a screening interview, and thus no formal attorney-client relationship was formed. Again, the question before the Court of Appeals was whether there were genuine issues of material fact in dispute on this issue which should have precluded summary judgment. The Svendsen Defendants' position on this issue was undermined by the very evidence cited in the *Brief of Svendsen Respondents*, beginning at Page 14, in which they includes excerpts of the deposition testimony of Svendsen¹ in which Svendsen acknowledges the attorney-client relationship started in August of 2006.

Q So do you believe you started the process of working on getting a patent in August of 2006?

A No, I think it was -- it just opened the door so that we could -we could discuss in -- in -- for the purpose of -- of obtaining a patent certainly.

¹ The excerpted deposition testimony can be found at CP 273-274 (deposition of Svendsen, Page 45, Line 1 through Page 46, Line 19).

The Svendsen Defendants sought to have the Court of Appeals focus on the first word of Svendsen's answer to the question about whether the process of obtaining a patent started in August of 2006, in which Svendsen says "no." However, a close reading of the entire answer to the question reveals that the process of obtaining a patent did, in fact, start in August of 2006. Svendsen's answer, read in totality, says that the telephone call in August of 2006 opened the door for the purpose of obtaining a patent certainly.

Q Do you know how long after August 2nd of 2006 you would have actually met with Mr. Eakin to go through the details? A You know, I'm sure I met with him socially many times after that -- or several times at least after that. What the -- the process to start the patent can be considered as when you first are given a general disclosure or general description of the idea from the client. When you actually get down to making diagrams, typing up the detail description, et cetera, that -- that didn't take place as I recall until -- until the fall of 2007.

In answer to this question Svendsen again confirms that the process of obtaining a patent, the specific reason for which Eakin contacted a patent lawyer (Svendsen), began in August of 2006. Svendsen testified that "the process to start the patent can be considered as when you are first given a general disclosure or general description of the idea from the client." During the phone call in August of 2006,

Svendsen was given a general disclosure and description of the cattle

footbath system that Eakin wanted to patent. Thus the process, and hence the attorney-client relationship, began in August of 2006.

Svendsen goes on to testify that actually "making diagrams, typing up the detail description, etc." didn't take place until fall of 2007. This work is not done at the beginning of the relationship, it is done later in the process of obtaining a patent. In his mind Svendsen is clearly noting a distinction between the start of the attorney-client relationship (i.e. when he is provided the initial description of the invention) and the point at which the formal patent documents are prepared for filing.

Q So when do you believe you were officially retained to obtain a patent on behalf of -- or a patent for this cattle footbath system?

A Well, retainer, I -- I seldom charge retainers. My -- my relationships with my clients generally begin with the -- with the understanding that they've contacted me and I'm going to be helping them in a -- in a - in a certain project. What -- the -- as I recall it would have been in the fall of 2007 that there would have been a formal -- more formal, Okay, we're going to file this and it's going to cost this amount. And we're going to -- and we're going to go forward with it.

In answer to this question Svendsen once again confirms that the

attorney-client relationship began in August of 2006. He clearly testified

that "my relationship with my clients generally begin with the

understanding that they've contacted me and I'm going to be helping

them in a certain project." During the phone call in August of 2006,

Svendsen was contacted by Eakin about obtaining a patent and Svendsen

advised Eakin he had no conflicts and could assist Eakin in obtaining a patent.

In the second portion of his answer Svendsen testified "as I recall it would have been in the fall of 2007 that there would have been a formal, more formal, okay we are going to file this. . . we're going forward with it." Here Svendsen once again confirms there is a distinction between the formation of the attorney-client relationship to obtain a patent at the beginning of the process, and the subsequent preparation of the formal patent documents for filing later on in the process.

Case law is clear that the existence of an attorney-client relationship "turns largely on the client's subjective belief that it exists." *In re Disciplinary Proceeding Against Egger*, 152 Wash. 2d 393, 410-11, 98 P.3d 477 (2004). The caveat is that the client's belief must be "reasonable." *Id*.

At his deposition Svendsen himself admitted that Eakin likely had a reasonable subjective belief that an attorney-client relationship existed as of the fall of 2006:

Page 46 Line 12 through Line 19:

- Q Let me ask it a different way. When do you believe the attorney-client relationship began for the effort to get a patent for the cattle foot-bath system?
- A I -- I would -- I would say that that would have been in the mind of John Eakin and -- and is a big part of that. And I'm -- I'm sure he

considered this in the fall here of 2006. That that -- that relationship was -- a formal relationship had started.

CP 274.

The relevance and significance of this testimony by Svendsen goes to the ultimate question that must be resolved in this lawsuit, i.e, are there genuine issues of material fact in dispute regarding whether Eakin had a reasonable belief that an attorney-client relationship existed with Svendsen in August of 2006. In conducting that inquiry for purposes of summary judgment all facts and inferences from the facts must be construed in favor of Eakin, as the non-moving party. Therefore, the fact that defendant Svendsen himself testified that Eakin likely believed that an attorneyclient relationship existed beginning in August of 2006 is not only relevant, it is significant because it creates an issue of fact on that issue which should have precluded summary judgment.

IV. CONCLUSION

None of the "Issues" identified in the Petition for Review fit within the RAP 13.4 criteria for the acceptance of review by this Court. The issues before the Court of Appeals were simple and straightforward. Were there genuine issues of material fact which precluded summary judgment? The Court of Appeals correctly answered "yes" and reversed the summary judgment order. Eakin respectfully requests that the Court reject the Petition for

Review.